
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Policy Overview 
Committee

Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor S H Brown Councillor R Lees
Councillor P F Coleman Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor R M Currans Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor B Garden Councillor D Page
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor A Sandhu, MBE
Councillor J Jones Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor B K Kaini Councillor R J Wells
Councillor M B Kelly

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 12 December 2017

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
AGENDA

Tuesday 12 December 2017

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 

3. Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 
on 19 September 2017 (Pages 1 - 14)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any) 

6. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 15 - 18)
To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice for the 
period 20 November 2017 to 31 March 2018. 

7. Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee 
Meeting held on 19 September 2017 (Pages 19 - 32)

SD (IS)

To note the list of action points arising from the Policy Overview 
Committee meeting held on 19 September 2017. 

8. Update on the Benefit Cap, Universal Credit and Welfare 
Reforms affecting Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction 
(Pages 33 - 40)

SD (IS)

To provide Members with an update on the Benefit Cap, Universal 
Credit and Welfare Reforms affecting Housing Benefit and Council 
Tax Reduction. 

9. Dartford Preventative Health Projects - Annual Report 2016/17 
(Pages 41 - 58)

SD (IS)

To update the Committee on the progress on the Dartford 
Preventative Health Projects, against the priorities identified in the 
Health Inequalities Action Plan, for the financial year 2016/17. 



10. Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators 
Monitoring Report (Pages 59 - 78)

SD (IS)

This report presents a progress update for the latest set of Corporate 
Plan key actions and performance indicators for quarters 1 and 2 of 
2017-18. 

11. Policy Overview Committee Work Plan (Pages 79 - 82) SD (IS)
This report sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan. 



1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 19 
September 2017 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor B Garden
Councillor J S Hawkes (Substitute for Councillor D Page)
Councillor Dr B K Kaini
Councillor T A Maddison (Substitute for Councillor J Jones)
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow (Substitute for Councillor P F Coleman)

ABSENT: Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor J Jones
Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor R Lees
Councillor D Page
Councillor R J Wells

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Cheryl Clennett – Pharmacist Advisor to Kent Public 
Health

John O'Sullivan – Superintendent Pharmacist Ackers Ltd, 
Kent Local Pharmaceutical Committee 
Member

Mrs Patricia Chapman – Dartford Borough Residents Forum

Dartford Borough Council Officers

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External Services)
Sarah Martin – Strategic Director (Internal Services)
Adrian Gowan – Policy and Corporate Support Manager
James Fox – Scientific Officer
Nick Chapman – Assistant Environmental Health Manager - 

Environmental Protection

13. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors P F Coleman, R M 
Currans, S R Jarnell, J Jones, M B Kelly, R Lees and D Page.

14. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

2

15. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 13 JUNE 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 13 
June 2017 be confirmed.

16. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

17. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees.

18. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice, for the period 15 August 2017 to 
30 December 2017, be noted.

19. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 13 JUNE 2017 

This report asked Members to note the list of action points arising from the 
Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 13 June 2017.

Health Funding in Dartford

Members referred to the letter that had been received from NHS England in 
response to funding concerns that had been raised by Dartford, Gravesham 
and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) when they had attended 
the Committee’s meeting in March 2017 and expressed disappointment at the 
fact that the funding allocation continued to be based on an inaccurate view of 
population growth. It was felt that the impact of the Ebbsfleet Garden City 
development, and the transient population required during construction of the 
proposed Entertainment Resort on the Swanscombe Peninsula, had not been 
given sufficient consideration and that, given the pressures already being 
placed on Darent Valley Hospital, together with the budgetary issues being 
experienced by the CCG, a fairer funding formula was required. It was also 
noted how the majority of growth in population over the whole Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley area would be focused in the borough of Dartford 
and that the funding distribution required to deliver the health services needed 
to meet the increased demand in Dartford should take account of this. It was 
therefore proposed that, having ascertained the local CCG and NHS Trust’s 
views on the response that had been received from NHS England, a further 
letter of concern be sent to NHS England.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

3

Members also questioned whether the number of patients registered at each 
GP was the best way of ascertaining funding requirements given that some 
residents may not be registered with a GP.

The Chairman also asked that NHS England’s letter be copied to the MP so 
that he is aware of their response to the funding issues that have been raised.

Performance Indicator Monitoring

The Policy and Corporate Support Manager advised that, following approval 
of the Corporate Plan 2017 – 2020 at the General Assembly of the Council 
meeting held on 17 July 2017, work is now taking place with service 
managers to define targets for the revised set of performance indicators and 
that the first version of the revised ‘Corporate Plan – Performance Indicator’ 
report will be presented to the Committee’s December meeting.

RESOLVED:

1. That the list of action points arising from the Committee meetings held 
on 13 June 2017 be noted.

2. That, having ascertained the local CCG and NHS Trust’s views on the 
response that had been provided by NHS England, a further letter of 
concern be sent to NHS England.

20. PHARMACY SERVICES 

The Chairman welcomed Cheryl Clennett, Consultant Pharmacist for Kent 
Public Health, and John O’Sullivan, Kent Local Pharmaceutical Committee 
member, to the meeting, who were present to provide Members with a briefing 
on the forthcoming Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment and the services that 
are provided by pharmacies.

Ms Clennett began by explaining how a Kent Health and Wellbeing Board 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) is carried out every three years to 
review the pharmaceutical services that are being provided and assess 
whether more are required. She then noted how one was being carried out 
this year and anticipated that its findings would be published for consultation 
in October or November. She then said that Members views on its content 
would be welcomed.

Ms Clennett then showed how the age range of the population in the Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS CCG) was 
distributed, and how it compared to the rest of Kent, and noted that the DGS 
area had a larger percentage of people in the 25 to 35 age range, and 
children under 10. She then showed how the population density was 
distributed in the DGS area but noted that none were above the highest 
recorded densities nationally. She then referred to population growth and 
noted how the greatest future growth would be seen in the 65 years and over 
category. She then showed the DGS area’s ethnic minority profile and, whilst 
noting how this can differ within an area, said that this needed to be taken into 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

4

consideration because of the differing pharmaceutical needs of different 
cultures. She then noted how the PNA also took an area’s index of multiple 
deprivation into account and showed, at a ward level, the relative levels of 
deprivation that had been measured throughout the DGS area.

Ms Clennett then displayed maps showing how existing community 
pharmacies that provide 40 and 100 hours of service per week, together with 
those practices that are able to dispense, are currently distributed across the 
DGS area and in Dartford town centre. Members noted the low number of 100 
hour community pharmacies shown and that Dartford town centre only had 
one. Ms Clennett replied that some supermarkets also provide a 100 hour 
service and explained that it was up to each pharmacy to decide whether to 
apply to provide a 100 hour service since they could not be directed to do so. 
Members also noted that there were no dispensing practices in Dartford town 
centre. Ms Clennett said that there were historic reasons for this and noted 
how Darent Valley Hospital was able to dispense.

Members then referred to the development that had taken place at The Bridge 
and the fact that attempts to establish a pharmacy in the area had so far failed 
which caused problems for those in the area who require access to the 
services that community pharmacies provide. Ms Clennett explained how 
NHS England decide whether a new pharmacy outlet is to be allowed and 
said that a figure of 1000 homes is used when assessing whether a new 
pharmacy would be viable. She also noted how the impact of a new pharmacy 
on others in the locality is also assessed to ensure that they are not made 
non-viable.

Ms Clennett then displayed a series of maps that included a 1.6km distance 
ring around each existing community pharmacy, which, together with the 
locations of dispensing practices, showed the dispensing coverage being 
provided to DGS residents.

Ms Clennett then referred to areas of new development and said that the 
pharmaceutical needs of the Ebbsfleet Garden City (EGC) area had not yet 
been assessed because, following its slow start, the current rate of new build 
delivery in the area was not known. The Chairman noted this and asked that 
the existing new build figures, together with forecasts for the next 3 years, for 
both The Bridge and the EGC areas be provided to Ms Clennett and Mr 
O’Sullivan so that their pharmaceutical requirements can be fully assessed in 
the PNA.

Ms Clennett then displayed maps which showed those locations where stoma 
customisation and appliance use reviews were available, and also those that 
have achieved Healthy Living Pharmacy status. She also described how they 
were working with the Environmental Promotions Officer to give community 
pharmacies the information that they require to redirect those who are seeking 
advice in other health related areas, for example, if they need help to keep 
their house warm.

Ms Clennett then highlighted the flu vaccination service and said that it was 
being provided in addition to the service being offered by GPs. She also noted 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

5

how there were no pharmacies in DGS CCG that could offer the NHS Urgent 
Medicine Supply Advanced Service (NUMSAS).

Members thanked Ms Clennett for her presentation and, having referred to the 
data that had been provided, it was suggested that further assessment and 
analysis should be carried out to highlight trends and gaps so that areas 
where service improvement is required can be identified. Reference was also 
made to the forecast population growth in the area over the next three years 
and the need to ensure that there are enough pharmacies available to meet 
the increased demand. Ms Clennett explained how the data associated with 
the PNA consultation exercise was still being prepared and said that this was 
an early draft of the information that was to be presented. She said that 
comments and feedback received during the consultation exercise would also 
help to identify areas where improvements and enhancements were required 
and noted how the PNA would not be recommending the closure of any 
pharmacies.

Mr O’Sullivan then introduced himself and said that, in addition to other 
responsibilities, he was the Superintendent Pharmacist for the Ackers 
Chemists Group and a member of the Kent Local Pharmaceutical Committee 
(the organisation representing all community pharmacies in the area). He then 
described how community pharmacies provide a wide range of 
pharmaceutical services to the community and are fully regulated by the 
General Pharmaceutical Council (GPhC). He noted how they must have a 
pharmacist on the premises whilst open and said that pharmacists are trained 
to a Masters degree level (5 years) and are required to undertake Continuing 
Professional Development (CPD) training. He also noted how they must be 
registered, and comply fully, with the GPhC in order to practice, and how 
some pharmacists can be accredited Independent Prescribers. He then 
referred to Pharmacy Technicians (dispensers) and said that they were 
trained to NVQ3 minimum standard and are also registered with GPhC. He 
then advised that 1.2 million patients and customers visit a community 
pharmacy every day in the UK for healthcare related reasons and that the aim 
of a community pharmacy is to be accessible, functional and professional.

Mr O’Sullivan then explained how there are 26 providers of pharmaceutical 
services in the Dartford area for a population of 93,600 (and growing), which 
equates to approximately 27 pharmacies per 100,000 population and 
compares favourably to the average for Kent, which is 22, and for England, 
which is 23. He said that there were 19 core hour pharmacies, which operate 
for a minimum of 40 hours a week, and one 100 hour pharmacy. He also 
noted that the area had one mail order appliance contractor as well as a 
number of dispensing surgeries, which provided a more limited range of 
services.

Mr O’Sullivan then referred to the various types of community pharmacy and 
described how they can range from large corporate national companies, such 
as Boots, Lloyds and supermarket pharmacies, through to independent 
multiples, such as Paydens and Ackers, which can be family owned, and 
down to small independent contractors who usually own one or two shops but 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

6

often work in partnership with other independents. He also noted how people 
also have access to an Internet pharmacy called Pharmacy2u.

Mr O’Sullivan then described how community pharmacies deliver essential 
NHS pharmaceutical services such as the dispensing of medicines/ 
appliances, repeat dispensing, signposting, public health, disposal of 
unwanted medicines, and support for self-care, together with advanced 
services such as medicine usage reviews (MURs), new medicine services 
(NMS), appliance usage reviews/stoma appliance customisation (AUR/SAC), 
Flu Vaccination and NUMSAS. He also noted how they provide Public Health 
related services such as ‘Stop Smoking’, NHS health-checks, substance 
misuse support (alcohol and drugs), sexual health services (education health 
and care, Chlamydia) and healthy living support (weight management, 
children etc.). He then referred to private pharmaceutical services that are 
available such as home delivery, monitored dosage systems (MDS), 
vaccinations, and over the counter medicines. He then noted how community 
pharmacies in the DGS CCG area delivered no NHS England enhanced 
pharmaceutical services and no CCG pharmaceutical services.

In response to a question on the absence of CCG supported pharmaceutical 
services Mr O’Sullivan explained how DGS CCG had withdrawn support for 
the minor ailments scheme and palliative care and that, because other CCGs 
in Kent (e.g. West Kent and Medway) were still looking to provide support for 
these services, this was leading to health inequalities within Kent. It was 
explained that the services had originally been provided by NHS England but 
that responsibility for their support had been passed to CCGs and that DGS 
CCG had decided not to carry on with its support. He said that the minor 
ailments scheme was used to enable conditions such as head lice, fungal 
infections and threadworm to be treated and was often used by families on 
low income. He said that the cost to provide the scheme was not great and 
that those CCGs that were continuing to operate the scheme had concluded 
that it was financially advantageous to do so. Ms Clennett also noted how the 
scheme would save GP time because, without it, people would visit their 
doctor for treatment and advice instead.

Mr O’Sullivan again noted how flu vaccinations were now being provided by 
community pharmacies (in addition to GP practices) and referred to a survey 
that had been conducted in 2016/17 which showed that the community 
pharmacy service was highly valued by patients, with 64% of those who had 
previously had a flu vaccination in another setting having swapped to a 
pharmacy. He noted how patients preferred the convenience and that fact that 
they could receive a vaccination at any time without an appointment. The 
Chairman noted how in a recent visit to a pharmacy the availability of flu 
vaccinations had been displayed in a clear and informative way. Ms Clennett 
noted how this year was expected to be particularly challenging following the 
high number of flu related cases that had been treated in Australia and New 
Zealand this year and said that those at risk should be encouraged to have a 
flu vaccination.

Mr O’Sullivan then referred to NUMSAS and said that this was a service that 
was good where it worked (i.e. London and West Midlands) but was virtually 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

7

non-existent in Kent. He explained how the service allowed a patient to 
receive a repeat prescription out of hours without having to go through a GP. 
He said that pharmacies were having to wait for the required authorisation, 
and the necessary email connectivity, to enable them to deliver the service. 
He then noted how they were committed to progressing its introduction 
because it would take pressure off those GPs operating out of hours who are 
currently required to issue a prescription for those patients who find that they 
require repeat medication at the weekend.

Mr O’Sullivan then described the Prescription Ordering Direct (POD) service, 
which allows patients to request their repeat medication via an email or 
telephone call rather than at a pharmacy and said that a trial had highlighted 
issues with consistency, equality, engagement and the IT systems required to 
deliver the service. He said that it had been introduced as a cost saving 
measure and that they were awaiting feedback on the benefits that had been 
delivered. Ms Clennett also noted how those answering POD calls are 
required to verify that the repeat medication is actually needed in order to 
avoid waste. One Member who had used the service 4 times said that in his 
experience his request for repeat medication had never been queried.

Mr O’Sullivan then referred to local prescribing practice changes in the area 
and noted how some medicines (e.g. herbal, homeopathic and travel 
vaccinations) would no longer be eligible to be supplied through NHS 
prescriptions. He noted how this could cause problems if people go abroad 
without having been vaccinated and return with a disease that requires 
medical attention. He also noted the move towards the removal of 
paracetamol from prescriptions and the impact this may have on low income 
families who cannot afford to buy the medication themselves. He then noted 
how branded generics are recommended to GPs as a way of reducing the 
costs associated with the dispensing of medicines but said that continual 
change meant that the recommended option did not always remain as the 
cheapest. Ms Clennett noted that the NHS England’s national consultation on 
“items which should not be routinely prescribed in primary care” was still 
running and invited Members to submit a response before its closing date of 
21 October.

Mr O’Sullvan then referred to the funding cuts that were being imposed by 
Government and said that the two year funding package for community 
pharmacy would result in a £113 million reduction in funding in 2016/17, which 
is a reduction of 4% compared with 2015/16, but would mean that contractors 
would see their funding for December 2016 to March 2017 fall by an average 
of 12% when compared with 2015/16 levels. He also noted that this would be 
followed by a reduction in 2017/18 which would see funding levels from April 
2017 drop by around 7.5% when compared with 2015/16 levels. In reality he 
noted that this meant that in the months of February and March 2017 there 
was a reduction of 20% in remuneration because all of the reductions were 
loaded into the last three months of the last financial year. He also added that 
a clawback of money had also been instigated in addition to the planned 
reductions which meant that a further 17% reduction was still being faced. He 
said that these levels of funding reduction could be the difference between a 
pharmacy remaining viable or becoming non-viable and that some smaller 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

8

independent outlets were being put up for sale. He then expressed concern at 
the fact that pharmacies were seen to be struggling to remain viable at a time 
when Government wanted to encourage people to use pharmacies to alleviate 
pressure on GP surgeries. He also again referred to the preventative health 
benefits that are delivered by pharmacies and asked that Members 
communicate and use their position to influence CCG related decisions and 
the commissioning of Public Health related services.

Members thanked Ms Clennett and Mr O’Sullivan for their informative 
presentation and referred back to the DGS CCG controlled pharmaceutical 
services that had been withdrawn. Mr O’Sullivan again summarised the areas 
that had been impacted and said that West Kent CCG, who continue to 
provide support for these services, were a good example of how these 
services can continue to provide benefits, particularly for those on low income, 
in return for a minimal investment. The Chairman noted the good relationship 
that the Committee had with DGS CCG and, with the Committee’s agreement, 
asked that a letter be written to them inviting them to explain why pharmacy 
funding support for the Minor Ailments Scheme and Palliative Care Service 
has been withdrawn and whether they had assessed the resulting impacts of 
their decision.

In response to a question relating to changes that are made which impact the 
services being provided by pharmacies Mr O’Sullivan replied that they often 
find out just before a change is implemented and, as an example, noted how 
changes to the type of branded drug to be used can cause problems if a 
pharmacy already has stocks of a previous version, which can no longer be 
used. He said that a longer lead time into the changes such as these would 
allow pharmacies to manage their stocks more efficiently.

During further discussion it was noted how the Committee had expressed 
concern at the proposed community pharmacy related funding changes when 
they had first been proposed; and its continued concern over the ability for 
community pharmacies to keep delivering the services that they currently 
provide, and the impact that this may be having on those considered to be 
most vulnerable, was endorsed. It was also suggested that the Chairman and 
Shadow Chairman consider the submission of a joint motion to the General 
Assembly of the Council highlighting their concern for the future of community 
pharmacies following the Government funding reductions.

The Chairman thanked Ms Clennett and Mr O’Sullivan for taking the time to 
attend the meeting in order to update Members and, in order that Members 
may be kept informed of changes to pharmacy services and the outcome of 
the PNA, invited them to return in June 2018 to provide the Committee with a 
further update.

RESOLVED:

1. That Ms Clennett and Mr O’Sullivan be thanked for attending the 
meeting and responding to Members’ questions.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

9

2. That the information provided by Ms Clennett and Mr O’Sullivan be 
noted.

3. That the existing new build figures, together with forecasts for the next 
3 years, for both The Bridge and the EGC areas of development be 
provided to Ms Clennett and Mr O’Sullivan.

4. That a letter be written to the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group asking them to explain why pharmacy 
funding support for the Minor Ailments Scheme and Palliative Care 
Service has been withdrawn.

5. That Ms Clennett and Mr O’Sullivan be invited to provide a further 
update to the Committee at their June 2018 meeting.

21. AIR QUALITY REVIEW 

This report presented an update on air quality and its implications for health, 
both locally, and set against the national context.

The Scientific Officer described how Environmental Health continued to 
maintain a large network of air quality monitoring sites across the Borough 
and that, although monitoring data from 2016 suggested that pollution levels 
had generally improved from those in the preceding year, levels remained 
high and above action levels at most monitored roadside sites. He then 
referred to an air quality health review that had been carried out in 2015 to try 
to identify any correlation between high levels of traffic congestion and poor 
health outcomes but said that the research proved inconclusive. He said that 
whilst there was an indicator that measures the fraction of mortality 
attributable to particulate air pollution, this data was only available for the 
district as a whole and that the only health based data available at ward level 
was for respiratory conditions including asthma and chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease (COPD).

The Scientific Officer then noted how air pollution was just one of many 
triggers that can worsen symptoms of asthma and COPD and that cigarette 
smoking, house dust, pollen etc. can have the same effect and, given that the 
health data doesn’t make distinctions between the triggers, it would not be 
advisable to suggest that a high prevalence of these conditions would be due 
to one overall single factor. He also advised that the data cannot account for 
the actual pollution that an individual would be exposed to as they may spend 
large amounts of the time working in areas with much higher or lower levels of 
pollution when compared to pollution levels where they live.

The Scientific Officer then said that, in July 2017, Defra had published a new 
national UK Air Quality Plan for the reduction of nitrogen dioxide and had only 
identified one road in Dartford (the A206 close to the border with Bexley) that 
was predicted to exceed the NO2 limit in 2017, and no roads by 2018 and 
noted how this seemed highly optimistic when compared to monitored data. 
He also confirmed that the A282 (Dartford Crossing approach road) had now 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

10

been included and modelled for the baseline but was not predicted to exceed 
the defined NO2 limits.

The Scientific Officer then advised that the principle action that had been 
proposed in the draft action plan was to mandate local authorities to 
implement Clean Air Zones (CAZ), which essentially handed down 
responsibility for compliance with EU limit values to local authorities, and that 
as the UK Action Plan predicted that NO2 levels within Dartford would be 
reduced to a level below the actionable threshold by 2020, the Council is not 
required to undertaken additional assessments and is not compelled to 
consider the implementation of a CAZ.

The Scientific Officer then said that he was concerned that the modelling used 
for the production of the UK Action Plan significantly underestimated pollution 
levels across the Borough and had contacted Defra to establish whether the 
Council would be required to establish a CAZ should the predictions within the 
plan not come to fruition. He added that officers had also made 
representations to government/Defra regarding the discrepancy between the 
modelled data used in the UK Action Plan and the monitored readings 
measured by the Council and that discussions were ongoing.

The Scientific Officer then described how, in 2017, Dartford contracted out the 
data management of its air quality monitors to Kings College Environmental 
Research Group (Kings ERG) and that, as part of the London Air Quality 
Network, Dartford now benefited from being part of the largest urban 
monitoring network in Europe. He noted how this partnership allowed the 
possibility for the Council to deliver an air quality messaging service known as 
airAlert, which is a service that sends free messages direct to vulnerable 
people informing them about air pollution levels in their area allowing them to 
manage their conditions. He said that airAlert was currently provided by 
Sevenoaks District Council and that Environmental Health was exploring 
funding options to expand the service to cover Dartford.

Members discussed the discrepancies between the A282 NO2 levels that had 
been predicted by Defra and those that had been measured by the Council’s 
own monitoring network and the Scientific Officer said that Defra’s figure of 35 
µg/m3, which had been predicted for the middle of the dual carriageway, did 
not compare well with the actual value of 55 µg/m3, which had been measured 
8m from the carriageway. The Assistant Environmental Health Manager also 
explained how Defra’s figures are based on data gathered from their own 
nationwide network of monitoring stations, none of which are in the Dartford 
area, and said that the results are extrapolated to create values for other non-
monitored areas such as Dartford. He also noted how, throughout the 
borough, Defra’s reported NO2 level predictions were consistently below those 
being actually measured. Members expressed concern at the discrepancies 
that were being found and the Chairman offered the Committee’s support, if 
required, to help resolve them.

Members noted how the use of airAlert in Sevenoaks had been raised at the 
Elders Forum and asked what the cost of implementing it in Dartford would 
be. The Scientific Officer advised that there was a £2k set up cost and an 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

11

annual cost of £3k plus text message fees to keep it running. Members 
discussed how this could be financed and were advised that officers were 
investigating whether Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding could be 
used to deliver the service. Members hoped that the funding issue would be 
resolved soon and asked to be kept informed of progress.

Members expressed concern at the fact that it was not possible to attribute 
worsening symptoms of asthma and COPD to poor air quality and asked if 
action would still be taken to address the high readings that were being 
measured. The Strategic Director (External Services) replied that officers 
were still working through the Action Plan data and looking to understand 
Defra’s methodology. She said that, although it is known that poor air quality 
causes health problems, there is no empirical health data to prove this 
because of the number of other contributory factors which act to multiply and 
increase the likelihood of a person developing a respiratory condition. She 
also noted how historical exposure to papermaking and cement production in 
the area could also be having a detrimental impact on the health of older 
people. She also referred to the lead roles that had been carried out by the 
Leader and the Cabinet Portfolio Member for Transport and Infrastructure 
when the decision was being made on where best to locate the Lower 
Thames Crossing and the fact that this would lead to improved air quality at 
the Dartford Crossing.

In response to a question the Scientific Officer confirmed that, following media 
reporting, the A282, which had previously been classed as a rural road and 
had therefore been excluded from Defra’s baseline model, had now been 
included. 

Members discussed the scope of the report and Cabinet’s view of its content 
and were advised by the Strategic Director (External Services) that this report 
had been prepared at the request of the Policy Overview Committee and that 
further analysis needed to be carried out before air quality related proposals 
could be presented to Cabinet for their consideration.

In response to a question on the health related statistical data that had been 
included in the report the Scientific Officer confirmed that this was the most up 
to date data available.

Members then asked what was currently being done to address poor air 
quality and were advised by the Scientific Officer that action was being taken 
to reduce the air pollution being generated by school buses, whose emissions 
are not restricted by the rules that exist for buses used on normal bus routes. 
He also noted how he and his colleagues provide input when road junctions 
are being redesigned to reduce traffic congestion and work to ensure that 
roads are routed away from populated areas.

Members thanked the officers for their update, expressed support for the 
continued investigation into ways of addressing poor air quality, and asked 
that a further update be presented to their June 2018 meeting.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

12

RESOLVED:

1. That the information in the report, including the outcomes of the UK Air 
Quality Plan, be noted.

2. That the content of the report, and officers’ actions in making 
representations to Defra regarding the discrepancy between the 
modelled data for Dartford, prepared in support of the UK Air Quality 
Plan, and the readings obtained by the Council be noted.

3. That the Committee receive a further update on air quality at their June 
2018 meeting.

22. FAIRFIELD 

This report provided Members with an update on proposed developments at 
the Fairfield site and outlined how future performance is to be measured.

The Policy and Corporate Support Manager described the actions being taken 
to address the issues that had arisen following the, greater than anticipated, 
success of the refurbished facility. He noted how Cabinet had agreed 
enhancements to the gym and car parking area, and would also be 
addressing concerns that had been raised in relation to the changing facilities. 
He said that the associated funding requirements had been agreed and that 
work was underway, although he noted that changes to the car parking 
arrangements would need planning approval before being progressed. He 
then referred to the detailed set of performance indicators that had been 
agreed with the operators of the facility and said that progress made against 
those indicators would be reported annually. He also highlighted how the 
facility was generating £40k worth of income for the Council per month.

Reference was then made to the monitoring of the newly defined performance 
indicators and it was asked whether they would show that the Council’s aims 
of promoting increased activity, improving residents’ health and wellbeing, and 
providing economic benefits for the Council, were being delivered. The 
Cabinet portfolio holder for leisure, who was present at the meeting, noted 
how the indicators enabled the increasing number of people who were making 
use of the facility to be tracked and welcomed the action that was being taken 
to address the capacity and privacy issues that had been raised. She also 
welcomed the income that was now being generated from the facility. The 
Policy and Corporate Support Manager then advised that the intention was to 
report on these detailed indicators on an annual basis but said that key ones 
could be reported quarterly if required. He also noted how those health and 
wellbeing related indicators defined in the Corporate Plan would continue to 
be reported to the Policy Overview Committee quarterly. He then described 
how the Cabinet portfolio holder for leisure met with officers on a monthly 
basis to review the performance of this leisure facility and others across the 
borough.

In response to a further question relating to figures that had been included in 
the scorecard and the way that the targets and timescales had been 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

13

presented the Policy and Corporate Support Manager confirmed that the 
figures covered the facility’s first full financial year of operation and showed an 
overall 60% increase in usage with the gym currently running at full capacity 
and the pool running at 95% of capacity.

The Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum representative also noted how the 
pulmonary rehabilitation programme being run at Fairfield was improving the 
health and wellbeing of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) 
sufferers that she personally knew and said that she herself uses the pool 
twice a week.

RESOLVED:

That the content of the report be noted.

23. UPDATE ON HOUSING AND PLANNING ACT 2016 

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 enables government to implement the 
sale of high value council homes, provide starter homes, implement pay to 
stay and a number of other measures designed to promote home ownership, 
increase housebuilding and provide a ‘fairer’ system for the allocation and 
maintenance of social housing.

This report provided information on the range of measures proposed and, 
where relevant, the impact this may have on housing need in the borough.

Members noted how a number of the proposals that had originally been 
included in the Act had either been removed or amended to have a less 
significant impact. They did however highlight the potential negative impact 
that the sale of high value homes, and the extension of the ‘Right to Buy’ to 
Housing Associations, could have on the number of available homes for rent 
in the Borough.

It was also asked that the number of Housing Association homes that have 
been purchased through ‘Right to Buy’ be circulated to all Committee 
members.

RESOLVED:

1. That the content of the report be noted.

2. That the number of Dartford Housing Association homes that have 
been purchased through ‘Right to Buy’ be ascertained and circulated to 
Committee members.

24. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

This report set out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.

Having referred to the areas that had been suggested for future consideration 
the Chairman, with the Committee’s approval, asked that an item on planning 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

14

related parking standards be added to the March 2018 meeting agenda, and 
an item on fly-tipping and bulk waste collection be added to the June 2018 
meeting agenda. 

The Chairman also confirmed the following additions, which had been agreed 
during the consideration of previous agenda items:

 Pharmacy Services – June 2018
 Air Quality Review Update - June 2018

RESOLVED:

That the Work Plan, together with the minuted additions above, be noted.

The meeting closed at 9.19 pm

Councillor E J Lampkin
CHAIRMAN



20 November 2017 - 31 March 2018

1 of 3

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

CIL Governance and Spending 
Review

Progress in implementing the CIL 
Governance arrangement approved 
by Cabinet in March 2017, and an 
initial five year CIL spending profile. 

Cabinet
7 Dec 2017

Formal consultation with 
relevant infrastructure 
providers to take place 
during November.

Tania Smith, Policy Planner
Tel: 01322 343103
tania.smith@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
7 Dec 2017

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Housing Benefit Overpayment 
Write-offs

To consider writing-off Housing 
Benefit overpayments where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment, 
where the Tribunals Service has 
exercised its discretion not to 
recover overpaid sums or where 
recovery is not permissible under the 
relevant Housing Benefit or Council 
Tax Benefit Regulations.

Cabinet
7 Dec 2017

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 & 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)



3 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Stone Lodge - Appropriation for 
Planning Purposes

  

Cabinet
25 Jan 2018

Appropriation for 
planning purposes to be 
advertised post in 
principle decision by 
Cabinet.

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services
Tel: 01322 343634
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Revenue and Capital Budgets 
2018/19

To set the levels of expenditure for 
Dartford Borough Council capital and 
revenue budgets for 2018/19, to 
approve the level of rents chargeable 
for Housing Revenue Account 
dwellings for 2018/19, to agree the 
level of Council Tax for Dartford 
Borough in its parished and 
unparished areas for 2018/19, to 
approve the Pay Policy Statement 
for 2018/19 and to determine sundry 
related matters.

General Assembly 
of the Council 
(Budget)
26 Feb 2018

Budget consultation with 
residents and 
businesses – December 
to January - mainly via 
website.

Tim Sams, Financial Services 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343148
tim.sams@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Homeless Strategy 2018

To agree an updated version of the 
Council’s Homeless Strategy.

Cabinet
8 Mar 2018

General Assembly 
of the Council
19 Mar 2018

Stakeholders and 
residents to be 
consulted through an 
on-line survey.

Jackie Pye, Housing Policy 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343683
jacqueline.pye@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 19 SEPTEMBER 2017

1. Summary

1.1  To review the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 
19 September 2017 and to consider whether any item should be referred to the 
next meeting for a more detailed discussion.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 19 
September 2017 be noted and that the Committee consider whether any item 
requires a report to be submitted to the next meeting, for more detailed 
discussion.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. List of Action Points

No. Item Responsible Officer
1 At their meeting on 19 September 2017, having 

considered the letter that had been received from 
NHS England in response to a letter that had been 
sent highlighting the funding concerns that had been 
raised by Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) at the Committee’s 
meeting in March 2017, Members asked that the local 
Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Trust’s views 
on NHS England’s response be ascertained and that a 
further letter of concern be sent to NHS England.

The CCG and NHS Trust have been approached and 
asked to comment on the NHS England’s response.

Also attached at Appendix A is the letter that was sent 
to the Secretary of State for Health following the 
passing of an associated motion by the General 
Assembly of the Council on 17 July 2017, and the 
response received back from Phillip Dunne, Minister 
for Health, is attached at Appendix B.

Adrian Gowan

2 At the meeting held on 19 September 2017 Members 
asked that NHS England’s letter also be copied to the 
MP so that he is aware of their response to the 
funding issues that have been raised.

A copy of the letter was sent to the MP.

Alan Stoneham



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

3 At their meeting on 19 September 2017, during 
consideration of the item on Pharmacy Services, it 
was noted that pharmacy funding support for the 
Minor Ailments Scheme had been withdrawn. 
Members asked that asked that a letter be written to 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group asking why this funding support 
had been withdrawn and whether they had assessed 
the potential impacts of their decision.

A copy of the letter that was sent is attached at 
Appendix C.

Adrian Gowan

4 At their meeting on 19 September 2017 during 
consideration of the item on Pharmacy Services, 
reference was made to a Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment (PNA) that was being carried out and the 
Chairman asked that the existing new build figures, 
together with forecasts for the next 3 years, for both 
The Bridge and the Ebbsfleet Garden City areas be 
provided so that Dartford’s future pharmaceutical 
requirements can be fully assessed in the PNA.

The information requested was provided to the 
Pharmacy Service representatives present.

Alan Stoneham

5 At the meeting held on 19 September 2017 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having received an update from 
Pharmacy Service representatives, asked that they be 
invited to return in June 2018 to provide a further 
update to the Committee.

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

Alan Stoneham

6 At the meeting held on 19 September 2017 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having received a report on air 
quality in the Borough, asked that a further update be 
provided to their meeting in June 2018.

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

Alan Stoneham

7 At their meeting on 19 September 2017, during 
consideration of an item relating to the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016, Members asked whether the 
number of Dartford Housing Association homes that 
have been purchased through ‘Right to Buy’ could be 
circulated to Committee members.

Associated information provided by the Head of 
Housing was distributed to all Committee members.

Peter Dosad



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

8 At the meeting held on 19 September 2017 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having reviewed the list of areas 
identified for consideration at future meetings, agreed 
that planning related parking standards be considered 
at their March 2018 meeting, and fly-tipping and bulk 
waste collection be considered at their June 2018 
meeting.

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

Alan Stoneham

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and 
demonstrates improvement.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None 
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – The letter that was sent the Secretary of State for Health.

Appendix B – The letter that was received from the Minister for Health in 
response to the letter sent at Appendix A.

Appendix C – The letter that was sent to Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A

















APPENDIX B









POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

UPDATE ON THE BENEFIT CAP, UNIVERSAL CREDIT AND 
WELFARE REFORMS AFFECTING HOUSING BENEFIT AND 
COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION

1. Summary

1.1  To provide Members with an update on the Benefit Cap, Universal Credit and 
       Welfare Reforms affecting Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the information contained in the report be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

Introduction

3.1. The Welfare Reform Act 2016 has introduced a number of welfare 
reforms which are in part aimed at reducing spend on welfare, but also 
to reduce the overall dependency on public support and encourage 
people to move from benefits and progress into employment. 

3.2. A recent report written by Policy in Practice, which was commissioned 
by the Local Government Association, states that the combined effects 
of the major reforms implemented before 2017, namely both Benefit 
Caps, the under occupation charge (commonly known as the ‘Bedroom 
Tax’), the localisation of Council Tax Support and the Local Housing 
Allowance shortfall, result in an average loss of income of £23 per 
week for each working-age household.

3.3. The report goes on to state that the transition to Universal Credit (UC) 
will lead to a further loss of £11 per week and that by 2020, the 
continued impact of reforms implemented before 2017 will increase the 
cumulative loss of income from welfare reform to an average of £40 per 
week. 

3.4. However, whilst these combined effects are significant it should also be 
noted that of the people currently in receipt of UC, 40% (250,000) were 
in employment. 

Benefit Cap – National Position

3.5. The Benefit Cap is a national limit on the amount of benefits a single 
person or family can receive. The table below sets out the respective 
Caps before and after 7 November 2016:



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

Status Prior to 7 November 
2016

From 7 November 
2016

Couple/single 
parent

£26,000 per year/£500 
per week

£20,000 per 
year/£384.62 per week

Single £18,200 per year/£350 
per week

£13,400 per 
year/£257.69 per week

3.6. People of working age, between 16 and 64, who receive more than 
£384.62 as a family, or £257.69 as a single person a week in benefit, 
will have certain benefits, including Housing Benefit (HB), reduced to 
keep their overall benefit below the limits set by the Government. 

3.7. The cap applies to the total amount of people in a household, including 
partners and any children, who get income from certain benefits.

3.8. People who are eligible for Working Tax Credit or Pension Credit are 
not affected by the cap, neither are those where they or their partner 
get Universal Credit and their household income is more than £430 a 
month after tax and National Insurance. 

3.9. The last statistical data published by the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) was in May 2017 and this identified that 66,000 
households had their HB capped as at February 2017. This was an 
increase of 46,000 households on the previous quarter (November 
2016) and the increase was due to the implementation of the lower 
benefit cap levels, which came into effect from 7th November 2016.

Benefit Cap – Local Position

3.10. At the time of writing this report, there are 86 cases in the borough that 
are capped and consequently receive a reduction in their HB 
entitlement. The HB cap ranges from £1.57 per week to £174.20 per 
week, with the average for all cases being £59.04 per week. 

3.11. Of the 86 cases, 34 are council tenants, 22 are renting from other 
social landlords and 30 are renting from private landlords. 

3.12. A report giving detailed case information is sent to the Housing 
Manager on a monthly basis and, in conjunction with the HERO 
service, this is used to proactively engage with and support residents 
who are affected by the cap.    

Universal Credit – National Position

3.13. The UC roll-out timetable has been pushed back several times.  
Following early problems, the entire programme was “reset” in early 
2013. In 2016, DWP began rolling out the “Full Service” – the final 
digital version of UC, available for all claimant groups – using a “test 
and learn” approach. From October 2017, roll-out of the Full Service is 
accelerating and under the latest plans it is expected to be operational 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

in all parts of the United Kingdom by September 2018. The remaining 
benefit and tax credit claimants would then transfer to UC between July 
2019 and March 2022, although rumours are circulating that managed 
migration for existing HB caseloads is unlikely to take place until at 
least 2023/24.
 

3.14. In February 2017, the former Work and Pensions Committee began an 
inquiry (relaunched by its successor Committee following the General 
Election) following receipt of “compelling evidence” of problems with 
the roll-out of the Universal Credit Full Service. Issues highlighted by 
local authorities, housing providers, charities and pressure groups 
include claimants experiencing hardship and falling into debt as a result 
of the minimum 6 week wait before the first payment of UC, and 
significant increases in rent arrears.

3.15. Concerns about the impact of the Full Service have led to calls on the 
Government to pause the further roll-out of UC to allow problems to be 
addressed. On 18 September, the Work and Pensions Committee 
Chair, Frank Field, called on the Government to heed the “unanimous 
call we are hearing from front line providers” to pause the Full Service 
roll-out, to prevent a “human and political catastrophe.”

3.16. Speaking on 2 October 2017, the Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions insisted that UC was working and said that roll-out would 
proceed according to the planned timetable. Guidance for DWP staff 
has been “refreshed” to ensure that “anyone who needs an advance 
payment will be offered it up-front.” On 18 October, the Secretary of 
State also announced that the UC helpline would change to a 
Freephone number over the next month, as will all other DWP phone 
lines by the end of the year.

3.17. Ministers also point to statistics showing that 89% of people making 
new UC claims receive some payment, and 81% receive their full 
payment, “on time” (i.e. within 6 weeks, or 5 weeks if they do not have 
to serve “waiting days” at the beginning of their claim). However, these 
statistics only cover the period once a claimant has registered their 
account, submitted details of their circumstances, accepted their 
responsibilities and made a formal declaration. Statistics are not 
available on how long claimants take to complete these preceding 
stages, and on how many accounts are deleted as a result of failures to 
complete the necessary steps in time.

3.18. Following an Opposition Day debate on 18 October, the House of 
Commons agreed an Opposition motion calling on the Government to 
“pause” the roll-out of the UC Full Service. However, the Minister for 
Employment, Damian Hinds, said that while the Government would 
“continue an active dialogue” with MPs across the House to listen to 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

concerns and identify where improvements might be made, it would not 
pause the roll-out of UC in light of the clear evidence of its benefits.

3.19. On 26 October the Work and Pensions Committee published a report 
on the “baked-in” 6 week wait for UC, which it described as a “major 
obstacle to the success of the policy.”  It noted evidence linking it to an 
increase in acute financial difficulty, adding that most low-income 
families do not have the savings to see them through the period. While 
welcoming the increased availability of advance payments, the 
Committee did not believe these were a solution to a fundamental flaw 
in the benefit’s design. The Committee recommended that the 
Government reduce the standard waiting time for a first UC payment to 
one month.

3.20. In further correspondence, the Committee’s Chair, Frank Field, has 
called on DWP to publish the revised business case for UC, and 
updated estimates of the employment impact of the benefit. 

3.21. In advance of the Autumn Budget on 22 November, there were calls on 
the Government to “review and relaunch” the UC system. Following the 
Budget, the Chancellor announced a £1.5billion package and a number 
of measures to address concerns about the delivery of the benefit. A 
summary of the measures are:

 From January 2018, those who need it and have an underlying 
entitlement to UC will be able to access up to 1 month’s worth of UC 
within 5 days of requesting it (this will be an interest-free advance). The 
period of recovery for this advance will be extended from 6 months to 
12 months, making it easier for claimants to manage their finances. 

 From February 2018, the 7-day waiting period for a new claim will be 
removed so that entitlement starts on the day an application for UC is 
made

 From April 2018, claimants already in receipt of HB will continue to 
receive their award for the first two weeks of their UC claim, and

 Provision will be made to make it easier for claimants to have the 
housing element of their award paid directly to their landlord  

Key statistics

In August 2017:
 Around 590,000 people were on UC. This is around 8% of the final 

caseload forecast by the DWP
 101 jobcentres (14%) operated the Full Service
 Around 227,000 people claimed UC via the Full Service



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

As roll-out continues this winter:

 134 more jobcentres will launch the Full Service by the end of the year
 The UC caseload might rise by around 370,000 by April 2018
 At least 90,000 more people might claim via the Full Service by 

January 2018
 On average 63,000 people a month might start a new UC claim till 

January 2018
 Of these 63,000 new starts, around 40,000 (64%) might wait at least 

six weeks for their first payment

Universal Credit – Local Position

3.22. The Council became a live UC site on 25 January 2016. Since then, 
the impact on the Benefits service has been minimal with only 40 UC 
cases having had their HB cancelled. The number of referrals from the 
DWP where a claimant requires help with online access or personal 
budgeting support has also been extremely low.

3.23. In terms of the full UC service, Dartford was originally due to go-live in 
May 2018 but following the Budget on 22nd November, this has now 
been put back to July 2018. A UC working group has been established 
and the working relationship between key stakeholders, including 
Housing and DWP Partnership Managers, is contributing to meaningful 
dialogue and effective planning.

3.24. However, the reality of moving towards the full UC service should not 
be underestimated. East Kent Services (which provides the Revenues 
and Benefits Service for Canterbury City Council, Dover District 
Council and Thanet District Council) now have areas where the full UC 
service has gone live and following a recent presentation of their 
experience to date, the following issues were highlighted:

 UC is primarily digital-by-default but customers have to check their UC 
accounts and manage their claim online on a regular basis. Failure to 
do this results in their claim being closed down, followed by a laborious 
process that the claimant then has to follow in order to get their claim 
reactivated;

 The frequent recalculation of UC where a Council Tax Reduction (CTR) 
claim is in payment is having a considerable impact on the recovery of 
council tax. Therefore, fundamental changes to the CTR scheme will 
need to be considered in the future to alleviate the need to recalculate 
a CTR claim every time a change in UC is notified;

 Applications for Discretionary Housing Payments are increasing 
substantially but there is a fundamental problem with requests for rent-



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

in-advance payments. This is because rent-in-advance payments 
cannot be awarded until housing costs in UC are paid, whilst on the flip 
side housing costs cannot be paid until a property is occupied;

 Temporary accommodation and homeless support costs are soaring. 
This is also compounded by rising rents without a corresponding 
increase in housing support; and

 The volume of notifications received by the Benefit section as a result 
of the full UC service is significant. The quality of notifications is of a 
poor standard and staff are increasingly being utilised as ‘paper 
sorters’ to manage and administer these notifications.

3.25. The UC working group, referred to in paragraph 3.19, are working hard 
to mitigate some of these issues. In addition, an extensive options 
analysis will shortly be undertaken on the Council’s CTR scheme so 
that the potential impact of UC can be understood, to assess whether 
any amendments need to be made to help ease any additional 
administrative burdens and to ensure the scheme is fit for purpose in 
the future. 

Welfare Reforms affecting Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction

3.26. The current wave of welfare reforms began in 2013 under the Coalition 
Government, in response to two competing objectives. The first was to 
make savings in order to help reduce the budget deficit. The second 
was to create a simpler system with clearer incentives to move into 
work.

3.27. The majority of welfare reform has now been introduced and there are 
no other major changes on the horizon that are likely to have a direct 
impact on HB or CTR. The welfare reform agenda is widely expected to 
wind down as 2020 approaches, although small tweaks may be made 
in response to changing economic forecasts or the impact of events 
such as Brexit.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications See risk assessment
Legal Implications None 
Staffing Implications None
Administrative 
Implications

Minimal at present



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

Risk Assessment Affected residents will experience a reduction in 
their household income. With less disposable 
income, this may result in some residents finding 
it more difficult to pay their rent and their council 
tax. The following will help mitigate this impact:

 The Discretionary Housing Payment 
Scheme (Housing Benefit)

 The introduction of an Exceptional 
Hardship Scheme (Council Tax Reduction)

 Using the HERO service to support 
claimants directly affected by the Benefit 
Cap

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None.
BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

None Nick Scott
Head of Revenues & 
Benefits
(01732) 227397

Revenues 
and 
Benefits 

Internal 
Services

N/A





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

DARTFORD PREVENTATIVE HEALTH PROJECTS - ANNUAL 
REPORT 2016/17

1. Summary

1.1 To update the Committee on the progress on the Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects, against the priorities identified in the Health Inequalities Action Plan, for 
the financial year 2016/17.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee note the outcomes and progress made on the Dartford 
Preventative Health Projects for the financial year 2016/17.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Borough councils have a vital role to play in contributing to reducing 
health inequalities and improving the health and wellbeing of its 
residents. Functions such as planning, housing, environmental health, 
leisure and community safety all have an impact on the health and 
wellbeing of local residents.

3.2. Members will recall that the new three year Dartford Health Inequalities 
Action Plan (2015-2018) was agreed and adopted by this Committee 
on 15 December 2015.  Local priorities were developed by the Dartford 
Health Inequalities Group partners to deliver against targeted actions to 
meet local needs.  The preventative health projects delivered by this 
Council form part of this Action Plan

3.3. Dartford Borough Council has been commissioned by Kent Public 
Health since 2008 to deliver a range of preventative health projects as 
part of a continuing annual Service Level Agreement.  This work is 
monitored quarterly through outcome monitoring submissions to Kent 
County Council.  The projects include healthy weight programmes and 
the promotion of mental wellbeing and community cohesion.  

3.4. A summary of the preventative health project outcomes achieved in 
2016/17 can be found in the Progress Report at Appendix A.  These 
outcomes relate to the priorities identified within the Dartford Health 
Inequalities Action Plan. 

3.5. The Health Inequalities Action Plan sets out six overarching objectives 
to reduce health inequalities across the Borough.  The local priorities 
identified under each objective are:

 Promote Healthy Weight for Children;

 Support older people to keep them safe, independent and living 
fulfilled lives;



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

 Support businesses to have healthy workplaces;

 Provide the right support at the right time including financial and 
debt support; 

 Develop our communities to be healthy places;

 Reduce the gap in health inequalities across the social gradients.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Health and Wellbeing is a corporate theme in the Plan.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications In 2016/17 the Council received £114,580 of 
Public Health funding to deliver preventative 
health work in the borough from Kent County 
Council.  An additional amount of £9,250 was 
received to deliver Workplace Health 
initiatives.   
A 7.5% in-year budget saving was required 
by Kent Public Health for 2016/2017, leaving 
a total annual budget of £114,580 for the 
2016/17 financial year, in comparison to 
£123,870 for 2015/16.

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications The Dartford Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator 
post is funded by Kent Public Health through 
the Kent annual SLA budget.

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment Inability to deliver against the service 
specifications set by Kent Public Health could 
result in the loss of budget and the 
termination of one or more of the funded 
projects.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan progress report 
(2016/17)



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Dartford Health Inequalities 
Action Plan (2015-2018)

POC 
12/12/17

Hayley Brooks
(01732) 227272

Communities & 
Business Team 
(Sevenoaks District 
Council – shared 
service)

N/A





APPENDIX A 

Page 1 of 14 
 

Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan Progress Report (2016/17) 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

Objective 1: 
Give every child 
the best start in 
life 

Local Priority: Promote Healthy Weight for Children 
Actions:  Support families to maintain a healthy weight 

 Improve local healthy weight care pathways 
 Maximise opportunities with health visiting teams 

 
Progress: Don’t Sit, Get Fit  

 
 Don’t Sit, Get Fit! Delivered in 5 schools targeted by the National Child Measurement 

Programme, supported by projects/events for NCMP, Kent Public Health, Dartford 
Libraries and The British Heart Foundation 

 Dynamo club – Family Weight Management programme at Fairfield Leisure Centre 
 Summer Sizzler programme, free physical activity sports interactive programme 

engaging families ran across the Borough. 
 

Outcomes: Weight Management Services for Families (Don’t Sit Get Fit) 
 
 Don’t Sit Get Fit targeted 7 schools across Dartford during 2016/17  
 3 Dynamo clubs ran during 2016/17 to coincide with the school term times 
 29 families took part  
 56 children completed the program (who were above the 91st centile) 1 
 51 Children reduced or maintained their BMI Z-score (Children above 91st centile)  

 
 
 

                                                            
1 A BMI above the 91st centile suggests overweight 

 



APPENDIX A 

Page 2 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

 
Summer Sizzler  
Summer Sizzlers - Free family based activities on offer across the Dartford Borough during 
the Summer Holidays. 
The Play4life sessions were organised and funded by the Healthy Lifestyles Co-ordinator for 
five Mondays during the holidays.  This gave DBC the opportunity to information share with 
children centre services and to work in partnership with them  to promote all of our 
programmes, Public Health Campaigns such as change 4 life and Six Ways of Wellbeing.  

Issues:  
 

 
 
Objective 2: 
Enable all 
children, young 
people and adults 
to maximise their 
capabilities and 
have control over 
their lives 

Local Priority: Support older people to keep them safe & living fulfilled independent lives 
Action:  Develop Dementia Friendly Communities, provide services and activities to support 

sufferers and carers 
 Support individuals to improve self-management of long term conditions 
 Deliver effective local services for falls prevention 
 Support the Dartford’s Elder’s Forum 
 Improve provision of adaptations and equipment in the home to prevent accidents and 

improve the quality of life. 
 Support individuals with learning disabilities to access services 

Support Shopsafe ID Scheme 
 

Progress: Dementia Friendly Communities 
 Ongoing support for local Dementia awareness support groups and links with organisations 

that require Training.   
 
Assertiveness Courses 
 Being Assertive Courses and Health Walks supported by DBC enabling individuals to 

improve self-management of long term conditions 



APPENDIX A 

Page 3 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

Postural Stability 
 2 Community based Postural Stability classes during the Week at different locations in the 

Borough. 
 
Elders Forum 
 Elders Forum has grown to become one of the most successful events of its kind in the 

South East targeted at the elderly. 
 

Outcomes: Dementia awareness  
 Training set up for DBC frontline staff and local groups. Attend, signpost and promote the 

Dementia meetings and Cafes  
. 
Being Assertive  Course 
 11 people were recruited.  60 attendances recorded 100% of individuals completed the 

course reported an improvement in assertiveness. 
 
Health Walks 
 6  Health Walks operating at 5 different locations in the Borough 
 Ran by local volunteers  
 Ran over 48 weeks of the year 
 2478 attendances this year 
 1377 attendances last year 
 
Of those surveyed (7 returned evaluation forms): 
 100% have improved their health 
 100% have improved their fitness 
 100% have improved their social connectivity 
 100% have improved their mental wellbeing 
 100% people have had a positive outcome not listed above, for example reductions in 

blood pressure and help with joint pains. 



APPENDIX A 

Page 4 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

 
DBC held a volunteer Health Walk Leaders training session for residents to train to be new 

walk leaders across the Dartford and Sevenoaks area.  14 people attended the course 
held at Dartford Borough Council.  

 
Community based Postural Stability/Falls Prevention  classes  
 676 attendances and 83 sessions were run.  
Of those surveyed  (5 returned evaluations) 
 100% people have improved their health 
 80% people have improved their fitness 
 80% people have improved their rates of physical activity 
 80% people have reported a positive outcome not listed above. 

Six Ways To Wellbeing 
 The ‘Dartford Today’ notification system on the website allows a daily update of activities 

happening in Dartford Town Centre. People that are listed on the Council’s website are 
sent details of promotional activities happening in the town which are also linked in with 
The Six Ways to Wellbeing.  

 Monday 11th April 2017-Friday 15th April  2017 - Staff Wellbeing Six Ways To Wellbeing 
Event at Dartford Borough Council week  

 Dartford Festival  Sat 16th July 2017Sunday 17th July 2017 was also an engagement  
event  used to promote Six Ways of Wellbeing 

 
Elders Forum  
The Elders Forum currently has 180 members on the system.   The events enable 
engagement with residents in the Borough.  

 



APPENDIX A 

Page 5 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

Attendances: 

Qtr 1 2016 – 142 (12th May) 
Qtr 3 2016 – 117 (27th Oct) 
Qtr 4 2016 – 110 (24th Feb) 
Qtr 2 2017 – 108 (15th June) 
 
 Examples of the topics presented are: 
 Kent Fire Authority – safety in the home 
 NHS – integration of services consultation 
 Solar heating – benefits/cost savings     
 KCC – Adult social care 
 Natwest Bank – banking fraud prevention 
 
Switch and Save  
 Energy Switch initiative for cost savings 
 
Auction round Average saving Sum of saving Number of 

switchers 
Number of 
registrants 

May 16 320.87 24706.71 77 250 
October 16 152.47 6556.39 43 191 
February 17 117.94 3773.93 33 182 

 
The sum of saving is for actual switches through the scheme – it doesn’t take into account 
people who registered, received an offer then negotiated a better deal with their current 
supplier.   
 
 Support Shopsafe ID Scheme 
 45 people have signed up to this scheme 
 
 



APPENDIX A 

Page 6 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

Troubled Families 
Table 2.10 Families who met headline health at initial identification DARTFORD 

% of families with at least one individual meeting criteria 6.1 - physical health 41 
% of families with at least one individual meeting criteria 6.2 - alcohol issues 28 
% of families with at least one individual meeting criteria 6.3 - drug issues 28 
% of families with at least one individual meeting criteria 6.4 - emotional health 405 
Number of families with at least one individual meeting criteria 6.4a - emotional 
health (adult) 

28 

Number of families with at least one individual meeting criteria 6.4b - emotional 
health (child) 

69 

% of families with at least one individual meeting criteria 6.5 - smoking risks 17 
% of families with at least one individual meeting criteria 6.6 - not registered 
with a GP 

5 

% of families with at least one individual meeting criteria 6.7 - not registered 
with a dentist 

0 

% of families with at least one individual meeting criteria 6.8 - weight issues 4 
 

Issues:  
Community based Postural Stability/Falls Prevention  classes  
 
Due to reduced funding, a minimal charge of £1.50 per week has been made to clients 
attending the Postural Stability Falls Prevention Classes The charge has not affected the 
number of people attending classes. 
 

Objective 3: 
Create fair 
employment & 
good work for all 

Local Priority: Support businesses to have healthy workplaces 
Action:  Support Kent Healthy Businesses Award to increase the number of local businesses taking 

part 
 Reduce the smoking prevalence among routine and manual workers 
 Ensure businesses and workplaces are safe  
 Collaborative work between DBC and Fairfield Leisure Centre to promote healthy lifestyles  



APPENDIX A 

Page 7 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

 
Progress: Kent Healthy Business Award 

 4 businesses were actively engaged with 3 having signed declarations of interest. 
 

 
Outcomes: 

 
Kent Healthy Business Award 
 
 3 businesses assessed, including one who reached the Excellence level of the award.  
 
 

Issues: The drop-out rate for businesses continues to be significant. The main reason is an inability 
to commit the time involved to compile the evidence for the award. Most businesses are keen 
to invest some time in things such as health checks or a multi-topic wellbeing day as more of 
a ‘one-off’ time commitment offering potential ‘quick wins’ rather than committing a lot of 
resources to ongoing wellbeing work. 

 
 

Objective 4: 
Ensure healthy 
standards of living 
for all 

Local Priority: Provide the right support at the right time including financial & debt support  
Action:  Improve outcomes for families identified through the troubled families programme 

 Promote sources of information and where people can get help with benefits and financial 
support 

 Provide information for older people who may struggle to heat their home 
 Provide financial advice and training on how to best manage debts and household budgets 

as part of the HERO project 
 
 
 
 



APPENDIX A 

Page 8 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

Progress: Dartford HERO Project 
 
 Between 1st of April 2016 to 31.03.2017 
 149 Customers referred since the 1st of April 2016 to 31st of March 2017 
 99 Customers engaged with Service (66.44%) 
 5 Currently Live with HERO. (5.05%) for this period. 
 Currently live 37  
 

 
Outcomes: Dartford HERO Project 

 Direct Income to rents total £32653.06  
 22 negotiated Arrears offers (34%), 26 Housing benefit claims including back dates. (41%) 
 6 cases cleared rent arrears since engaging with HERO. 
 
 

Issues:  
 
 
 
 

Objective 5: 
Create & develop 
healthy 
sustainable places 
& communities 

Local Priority: Develop our communities to be healthy places  
Action:  Provide and promote opportunities for sport, leisure and active recreation 

 Improve and minimise the effects of poor air quality on vulnerable groups  
 Develop parks, green spaces, and public rights of way  
 Reduce the impact of poor housing and noise pollution on health 
 Ensure development in the borough provides a good quality of life and creates the 

conditions for communities to flourish. 
 Effective partnership Working in with GP’s, Hospitals, KCHFT, schools, Health Trainers, 

MIND, Charities  



APPENDIX A 

Page 9 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

Progress: Sport and Leisure 
 In 2016-17 there were four Sportivate projects supported in Dartford, to the value of 

£4,395. 
 Coach Scholarship Grants - there were no grants allocated to coaches in Dartford. 
 Capital Grants - no grants were made to organisations in Dartford. 
 Small Grants - no grants were made to organisations in Dartford. 
 Kent Sport Direct - there were 700 clubs registered with Kent Sport Connect across the 

county, with 30 of these clubs located in Dartford. 
 Coaches Register - The system currently has 399 coaches registered, with 12 of these 

coming from Dartford. 
 Project 500 - In Kent, 387 people have registered for the programme, with 69 new 

registrations in 2016-17, four of these coming from Dartford. 
 Connected Workshops - 28 workshops/forums were run in Kent, with 421 people 

attending. One workshop was held in Dartford with six residents attending. 
 Workplace Challenge - In Dartford, a total of 50 individuals had registered, representing 23 

workplaces, with 15 new individual registrations in 2016-17. 
 Free Access to National Sports People (FANS) Scheme - There are 481 athletes on the 

FANS database and of these, 13 are based in Dartford. Within Kent, access arrangements 
have been agreed for the FANS members to use 65 facilities, with four being in Dartford. 

 Talented Performers - the service awarded 42 grants to talented performers across the 
county, to the value of £40,000. In Dartford, two grants were awarded, to the value of 
£1,500. 

 Satellite Clubs - In Dartford, 24 Satellite Clubs were registered, with 22 of these active 
during 2016-17, and a total of £20,082 invested.  

 Primary School Sports Premium - £5million was allocated across Kent, with £264,885 
allocated to Primary Schools in Dartford. 

 Primary PE conference - 159 primary schools from across the county were represented at 
the conference, with nine schools coming from Dartford. 

 Kent School Games & Sainsbury’s School Games - three schools in Dartford took part in 
the Kent School Games heats, finals or both. For the School Games, eight schools were 



APPENDIX A 

Page 10 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

involved in either heats, finals or both. In total, 53 individual participants from Dartford took 
part in Kent School Games finals 

 Events (32 boys, and 21 girls), while 98 individual participants from Dartford took part in 
School Games finals events (60 boys, and 38 girls). In 2016-17, one school, and 

 12 participants from Dartford were involved in the Kent School Games, while one school 
and seven participants were involved in the School Games. In 2016-17, one grant to the 
value of £2,000 was awarded to School Games Organisers in Dartford. 

 
 The estimated attendance figures for the 2017 Festival were 30,000. 
  

Outcomes: Sport and Leisure 
 Sporting provision is a priority for Dartford’s community grant scheme Holiday activity 

programme  
 Summer Sizzler’s Promotion of free or low cost physical activity opportunities in the 

borough through Get Active  
 For a Healthier Happier Dartford initiative 
 Co-ordination and expansion of GP exercise referral scheme in the borough 
 Implementation of Dartford Core Strategy  - part of the Local Development Framework 
 Improve facilities and activities in parks and open spaces 
 Supporting communities to enhance, look after, be actively involved in and access their 

local green spaces e.g. environmental projects or ‘Friends of’ groups 
 Deliver a programme of activities and events to increase accessibility e.g. educational and 

health walks across the borough, Naturally Active project 
  Promotion of annual Dartford Festival to encourage community involvement 
 
Health Walks 
 
 6  Health Walks operating at 5 different locations in the Borough 

 



APPENDIX A 

Page 11 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

 Health and Wellness programme 
 Health and Wellness programme at Fairfield Leisure Centre Supporting individuals to 

improve self-management of long term conditions a 12 week health and wellbeing 
programme run by specialists Level 4 Instructors, working with a variety of health 
conditions. Offering supervised gym sessions, unlimited access to the gym and the pool 
and 13 health based classes.    

 Escape is a 6 week FREE course that is specifically for people with joint pain specifically 
working with hip and knee pain offering educational advice and gentle exercise. 
 

 Diabetes Awareness Event  Monday 14th November 2016 working collaboratively with 
key partners at  Bluewater Shopping Centre consisting of:  

       NHS Health Checks (including glucose testing) 
       Diabetes information booklets 
       Promoting District councils health services 
       Inviting Health Trainer to promote their services 
       Promoting Six Ways to Wellbeing  
 

Issues:  
 
 

 
 
Objective 6: 
Strengthen the 
role and impact of 
ill health 
prevention  

Local Priority: Reduce the gap in health inequalities across social gradients  
Action:  Focus on improving the health of those at the bottom of the social gradient fastest 

 Reduce smoking prevalence particularly in areas or among groups of high prevalence 
 Deliver services and promote the benefits of a healthy diet and active lifestyle to reduce 

obesity and related co-morbidities 
 Promote sensible drinking and ensure treatment services are accessible for all 
 
 
 
 



APPENDIX A 

Page 12 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

Progress: Adult Weight Management 
 
 15 Adult healthy weight programmes ran in wards with high indexes of deprivation in the 

Dartford Area. 
 A total of 253 people were recruited YTD  
 Of these 253 - 181 had a BMI of 28 or more.   
 Good links are maintained with GPs and Key partners to encourage referrals.  
  Health Trainer drop in sessions are being held at the Healthy Living Centre 
 

Outcomes: Adult Weight Management 
 
Of those 162 people who engaged, 135 lost some weight (83%) 
 
Of those 162 who engaged, 63 people lost at least 3% (38%) 
 
Of those 162 who engaged, 34 people lost at least 5% (21%) 
 
Of the 162 who engaged with the programme, 83 engagers responded via the lifestyle shake 
up form (51%) 
 
Of those 83 people 56 people reported an improvement in their uptake of moderate exercise 
(67%) 
 
Of those 83 people 58 reported back that they had improved on their uptake of vigorous 
exercise (70%) 
 
Of those 83 people 60 reported back that they had increased their daily intake of fruit (72%) 
 
Of those 83 people 57 reported back that they had increased their daily intake of Vegetables 
(69%) 
 



APPENDIX A 

Page 13 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

Of those 83 people 32 reported back that they had improved and decreased their intake of 
Fried Foods (39%) 
 
Of those 83 people 43 reported back that they had decreased their intake of High Fat dairy 
foods (52%) 
 
Of those 83 people 42 reported back that they had improved on their choices and intake of 
Snacks (51%) 
 
Of those 83 people who completed the AUDIT-C questions from the Lifestyle Shake-up Sheet 
31 people reported back that they had improved on their intake of Alcohol (37%) 
 
Of those 83 people 62 engagers completing the WEMWBS questions at the end of the 
intervention reported an improvement in their mental wellbeing (75%) 
 

Stop Smoking (KCHFT) 
434 clients set a quit date between 1/4/2016 – 31/3/2017 
247 of those clients quit smoking (57% success rate) 
73 of those who quit were from Routine and Manual job classification  
 
GET Active 
 Low cost exercise classes in deprived areas in Dartford to promote and encourage 

participation in physical activity.  During 2016/17 there were: 
 
 194 exercise sessions  
 1578 attendances 
 
Of those surveyed  ( 38 returned evaluations) 

 
 79% people have improved their health 
 100% people have improved their fitness 



APPENDIX A 

Page 14 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 
 

 68% people feel more socially connected 
 34% people have maintained or improved their weight 
 60% people have improved their physical activity levels 
 21%people have improved their diet 
 63% people have improved their mental wellbeing. 
 

Issues:  
 

 



CABINET
7 DECEMBER 2017

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarters 1 and 2 of 2017-18.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly 
of the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan 
delivers the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through 
the following five themes:

 Economic Development and Regeneration

 Health and Wellbeing

 Safer Communities

 Environment and Sustainability

 Housing and Stronger Communities

3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself:

 A Council Performing Strongly

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the 
Council wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating 
to the Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of 
the Borough.

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicator for the first two quarters of 
2017-18.

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have 
targets assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some 
indicators may report annually, and these have been identified in the 
report.



CABINET
7 DECEMBER 2017

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2017-20 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and 
Corporate Support

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Key Actions Monitoring Report – Q1 & Q2 2017/18
1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
Strategic Aim: To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our communities

Key Action Q1 & Q2 Update
Work with landowners and developers to bring forward the 
next phases of development on Lowfield Street, which 
includes community space and housing.

Planning consent was granted August 2017. Preparatory works are expected to commence on 
site in December 2017.

Appoint and work with a developer to redevelop the Co-op 
site.

Muse Developments has been appointed as the development partner for the Co-op site. The 
development agreement is currently being finalised.

Design and implement a Town Centre improvement scheme 
which will include an improved public realm and improved 
access into and around the Town Centre, particularly for 
those on foot.

Consultants have been appointed to design the scheme. Market Street is being designed as 
the first phase. Public consultation on the scheme is likely in January 2018. 

Create an enhanced space in Market Street which links the 
town to the Park and enhances the setting of the Library and 
Museum with room to expand the market space and provide a 
public square.

Consultants have been appointed and have commenced design of the scheme.  Public 
consultation is likely in January 2018.

Work with developers and the Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation to deliver 6,000 homes. On track to deliver 1,200 homes this financial year and 6,000 over the six year period.

Work with developers, Kent County Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to plan for the improvement of the 
Fastrack system and its extension to the new developments.

Secondary route through Ingress Park onto London Road is complete. Service expected to 
commence late 2017/early 2018. Fastrack route through the Millpond Development and 
Northern Gateway East is being constructed as part of the new development. Segregated 
Fastrack route through Eastern Quarry is being constructed as part of the development.  
Funding has been agreed for a Fastrack route through the tunnels to Bluewater. 

Rejuvenate the Acacia Hall site by providing a new entrance 
into Market Street, removing unsuitable buildings, improving 
the riverbank and increasing the number of car parking 
spaces.

Progress delayed due to completion of flood modelling work in conjunction with the EA. Main 
works design almost completed and specification under way.

New GM depot under construction and due for completion late December 2017, to allow 
relocation out of the Acacia site.



2

Set up a business advice website which will provide 
information and useful links for businesses in the area or 
looking to relocate to Dartford.

This has now been established as part of the dartfordbusinessawards.com work. 

Introduce a new Dartford Business Awards competition.
This has been a very successful initiative fully supported by the Leader of the Council who 
takes a keen interest in the look and feel of the event. The 2017 event at Bluewater proved to 
be successful and attracted a lot of positive media coverage.

Continue to develop the quality of the Town Centre appeal, 
attractiveness and ambience.

This is an ongoing programme in partnership with local businesses and developers. The 
relocation of the market has been very successful and events, such as the Christmas Lights 
switch on have had great support.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Strategic Aim: To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford and to provide for a rich and varied quality of life

Key Action Q1 & Q2 Update

Develop a new rugby facility on the Stone Lodge site, in 
conjunction with related green space, including formal and 
informal recreational facilities.

Initial design now settled and work is progressing for a planning application in November; 
potential site start in spring/summer 2018. Reptile relocation completed and archaeological 
work is currently ongoing. Work is progressing with site-wide consultancy process for an 
outline planning application in November (subject to completion of all the associated studies).

Continue to deliver public health initiatives across the 
Borough, including Healthy Weight, Dementia Awareness, 
Don't Sit Get Fit, Health Walks and Healthy Workplaces.

Community Postural Stability classes are gentle exercise classes for older people at risk of 
falls. In the first two quarters of 2017/18, 37 sessions ran and the number of attendees was 
349.

In the first two quarter of 2017/18, 133 Health Walk sessions ran and the number of attendees 
was 1,108.

Get Active's aim is to promote low cost physical activity opportunities across the Borough. In 
the first two quarters of 2017/18, 76 sessions ran and the number of attendees was 636.

Why Weight is a free 12 week adult weight management programme designed for residents 
with a BMI of 28+. In the first two quarters of 2017/18, 76 attendees were engaged with the 
programme.

There were no Family Weight Management Programmes running over the summer period.

In terms of Dementia Awareness, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator continues to attend local 
meetings and events.



3

In terms of Healthy Workplaces in partnership with The Grand, Gravesend two businesses 
have been assessed and have achieved the commit level in all themes, Diligence and 
Wellbeing link. Various new businesses have attended networking events to promote the 
Healthy Business Awards. In addition, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator is working with the 
Ebbsfleet healthy town coordinator to engage businesses to gain the Healthy Business 
Awards. 

Continue to grant fund organisations which support better 
physical and mental health outcomes.

Opportunities for organisations are available through Salute to Youth and Community Grant. 
Ongoing grants awarded to 4 organisations.

Work with Places for People to develop the Council's leisure 
offer.

Ongoing monitoring of the contract continues with quarterly updates and reports in addition to 
specific project meetings (LED lighting cubicles, parking and gym extension) and site 
inspections. An annual report is reported to Members via Scrutiny.

Work with commercial and community groups to widen 
residents' access to culture and arts in the Town Centre.

The Sir Peter Blake Gallery has now hosted a number of exhibitions, including one by local 
artists and Dartford & District Photographic Society. The Orchard Theatre continues to provide 
a wide range of live performances.

Deliver a range of free and paid for events throughout the 
year.

A number of performances have been held at the Outdoor Theatre, including Shakespeare in 
the Park and Treasure Island. Three Cinema in the Park events have also been held. The 
Christmas Carol Concert and Santa’s House events will take place over the Christmas period.

Continue to deliver green space as part of residential and 
business developments.

Green space and play areas have been provided as part of the development on Castle Hill and 
St Clements Lakes. Design of green spaces and waterside areas are being progressed at 
Northern Gateway and Millpond. Work is commencing on sports field provision at The Bridge, 
with proposals for an informal kickabout area at the western end of the site also being 
progressed. Masterplanning work is being undertaken on the green space provision as part of 
the Stone Lodge development. Further green space provision will be planned as new planning 
applications come forward.

Work with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group to bring forward plans for a health hub 
on the Co-op site.

A bid for funding from the One Public Estates Programme will be submitted in November. The 
bid is asking for revenue funding towards master planning work for a health and social care 
campus on the Co-op site. A decision on funding is expected in December 2017. In the 
meantime, an initial meeting has been held between Muse Developments and the CCG to 
discuss the basic space and layout requirements of a health campus. Muse Developments are 
now working on some plans to share with the CCG.



4

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and socialise

Key Action Q1 & Q2 Update

Continue to utilise measures such as Community Protection 
Warnings/Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, and 
Acceptable Behaviour Agreements to modify behaviour that 
impacts negatively on others.

The Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2014 provides powers to designate a geographical 
area to stop individuals or groups committing ASB in a public space. Following Cabinet 
approval, we have instituted a PSPO for the Town Centre including the Westgate car park 
which, following a 6 week statutory period allowing for any public appeal process, went ‘live’ 
from 6th November 2017. The first month of the PSPO will see an ‘education’ based approach 
from DBC officers and the Police towards ‘offenders’ as an alternative to FPN enforcement. 
New signage has been erected in the Town Centre which has, essentially, replaced the old 
Designated Public Place Order (under old legislation) signage, which expired October 2017. 
The other PSPO which is being considered is at Crossways Boulevard, Greenhithe to deal with 
the ‘Boy Racer’ problems.

CPW and CPN's are being issued regularly and appropriately both by Enforcement and 
Regulatory Services staff and those within Housing and Environmental Health.

Work with partners to deliver programmes designed to 
reduce anti-social behaviour.

The Community Safety Unit (CSU) continues to deliver successful outcomes alongside our 
primary Police partners, with whom we work alongside, as well as other services within DBC 
and outside agencies such as KCC (Community Wardens) and Kent Fire and Rescue Service. 
The Community Safety Manager has bid successfully to the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
several ASB projects and initiatives and attends several multi-agency fora concerned with ASB 
in the Borough.

Ensure that businesses are meeting their regulatory safety 
duties in relation to food hygiene and employee/public health 
and safety.

All statutory duties in relation to Food Hygiene are being met. All high risk inspections are 
completed on time. All lower risk food safety inspections are completed within 6 months of their 
due date. Due to their nature, this is an acceptable timescale. All complaints regarding health 
and safety, including accidents are investigated thoroughly. Due to a longstanding Health and 
Safety vacancy in the team, the diversion of food safety inspecting staff to this work, is 
impacting on the speed at which low risk inspections are carried out. All regulatory safety duties 
are being met.

Continue joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to 
licensed premises in Dartford to ensure adherence to 
licensing conditions and to ensure the responsible sale of 

The new combined post of Licensing Compliance and Enforcement Officer came into being in 
April 2017. Since this time the post holder has made a significant impact in terms of gleaning 
licensing renewal fees for relevant premises and carrying out joint visits and operations with the 



5

alcohol. Police. There has been very favourable feedback from both Police and service users. 

Continue to develop the Better Cars and Better Cabs 
accreditation scheme in Dartford.

This initiative is now well underway in terms of the new style test for both Hackney and Private 
Hire drivers. This test involves the essential issues of 'safeguarding' in the widest sense and 
also issues concerned with the prevention of terrorism and radicalisation. The new test is all 
computer based and strict integrity measures are in place. There has not been much uptake 
from Private Hire Operators to become involved in the scheme to date which is disappointing. 
However, the new measures have won praise from the likes of TFL and the Police.

Continue to work with partners to reduce crime and anti-
social behaviour in Borough businesses and public open 
spaces, providing vital intelligence and assistance to the 
Police and reassurance to both day and night time economy 
businesses and the public.

The Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) scheme has gone from strength to strength over the 
last 18 months or so with 68 members from the business community and around 115 users of 
the DTAC computer system. The Police have played their part in continuing with a dedicated 
Town Centre Police Officer, which is essential for the scheme to work effectively. DBC has 
continued with its commitment to CCTV for both the day and night time Town Centre 
economies. The new arrangements for providing CCTV services ‘in house’ with reduced staffing 
levels and a more intelligence led approach as to when cameras will be physically monitored, 
has been ‘live’ since April 1st 2017 and is currently working as well as can be expected. CCTV 
has undergone an Audit process in October (report yet to be circulated). 

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
Strategic Aim: To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel

Key Action Q1 & Q2 Update
Procure a new waste collection contract. Contract documentation is progressing well for publishing of OJEU notice in December 2017. 

Enforcement Officers will continue to appropriately enforce 
legal requirements in respect of littering, dog fouling, fly 
tipping, and parking.

Under contract, DBC instructed Kingdom Security to act as our enforcement capability for litter 
and dog fouling in January 2016. Since then and up until the end of October 2017 5,877 fixed 
penalty notices (FPN) have been issued to offenders in the borough.

DBC, having led on the introduction of the new £400 Fly Tip FPN, still remain one of very few 
local authorities within Kent to have introduced this. Up until October 2017, there have been 28 
FPN’s for minor fly tips served by DBC Enforcement Officers (not Kingdom). 

In terms of Fly Tip investigations DBC have an impressive 60% positive outcome / disposal rate.
A scheme to actively involve communities in helping to keep 
their local area clean will be implemented. Awaiting guidance on branding of equipment. 



6

Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout 
and energy efficiency on proposed developments.

The Development Policies Plan adopted July 2017, sets out high standards of design and 
layout.  Energy efficiency standards are set out in the Core Strategy. There is ongoing work with 
developers implementing the standards through planning applications.

Work with partners to ensure that the Lower Thames 
Crossing, east of Gravesend, is expedited at the earliest 
possible opportunity.

Design of scheme is being progressed by Highways England. Submission of application due 
late 2018, with a decision in 2020. If a private finance route is followed, construction to start in 
2023 with completion in 2027.

Produce a scheme for the repair of the Civic Centre, which 
will include energy efficiency measures. Project on schedule in accordance with programme.

Monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with 
national requirements and seek to identify and implement 
measures within our control which have a positive impact 
upon air quality and/or reduce the potential health impact of 
pollution incidents.

Data continues to be collected as required and published at https://www.londonair.org.uk/. The 
team are exploring potential funding to allow the implementation of ‘airAlert’ in Dartford 
Borough. This is a service which provides pollution alerts to residents so that they can make 
informed choices about their health.

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To facilitate quality choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users

Key Action Q1 & Q2 Update
Encourage, facilitate and enable all types of housing to be 
built, which will meet the various types of need in the 
Borough. This will include the Council's own build 
programme.

Project on schedule in accordance with programme and additional new build sites, that will 
extend the Councils new build programme, currently being assessed.

Work with developers and registered providers to deliver 
120 affordable homes during 2017/18.

In 2017/18, the number of affordable homes delivered to date is 75. This is on course to beat 
the annual target.

Include community facilities as part of major new 
developments.

First primary school at Eastern Quarry has been opened. A primary school at Ebbsfleet Green is 
being progressed. Land has been acquired for a primary school at Northern Gateway and is 
expected to open in 2018. A secondary school is to be provided as part of the Stone Lodge 
development, expected to open in 2019. Plans for a health hub as part of the development of 
the former Co-op site in Dartford Town Centre are being progressed. Management 
arrangements for the community centre at Ingress Park are being out in place.



7

Provide grants to communities and individuals through the 
Community Grant and Salute to Youth Schemes.

Community Grant for 2017/18 will be launched in October. Salute to Youth 2017/18 is ongoing 
and we have awarded grants to 4 organisations so far this financial year.

Deliver or support events such as Dartford Festival, St 
Georges Day and the Festival of Light.

Dartford Festival, St George’s Day and Festival of Light events have been successfully 
delivered.

Submit a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the 
refurbishment of Dartford Museum. Work is ongoing to bring the Museum to the point where a bid can be submitted.

Maximise the number of people registered to vote. The number of electors will not be known until the new electoral register is published on 1st 
December.

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
Strategic Aim: To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement

Key Action Q1 & Q2 Update

Deliver a Channel Shift programme providing excellent 
service to customers, where, how and when they want it and 
delivering value for money.

There is an extensive range of online transactional services available through the website 
enabling customers to access services 24*7 from home or even on the move. The aim is make 
these so straightforward and convenient that those who can use them will choose to do so and 
assisting those who cannot.

Further promotion of the use of the Council’s website at all opportunities and where appropriate 
reducing marketing of other channels will help direct customers to the most appropriate 
channels in terms of service and value for money.

Deliver a Flexible Working Scheme to reduce the running 
costs of the Council.

This is currently being trialled in two service areas for a period of six months. Lessons learnt will 
be taken from these trials and associated IT will need to be reviewed so staff can work 
effectively from home.

Undertake a continuing review of budgets and processes to 
ensure maximum value for money and ensuring a balanced 
budget.

The budget process is a continuing piece of work. The Council continues to review its Medium 
Term Financial Plan based on the latest information. For the 21018/19 budget round available 
efficiency savings have been identified and early work has begun on the level of fees and 
charges. Meetings will be held in the next couple of weeks to identify main changes for 2019/20.

Undertake a programme of repairs to the Civic Centre which 
will reduce running costs. Works are progressing according to project plan.



8

Work with other Local Authorities in Kent, the Local 
Government Association and Government to introduce 
100% retention of Business Rates.

The Council has applied to be part of a 100% Business Rates pilot alongside other Kent 
authorities. It is expected that an announcement will be made as part of the draft Local 
Government Settlement announced in December.

Work with the Boundary Commission to review warding 
arrangements in the Borough and introduce any changes by 
May 2019.

A submission was made to the Local Government Boundary Commission in July 2017 
proposing reducing the number of Borough Councillors from 44 to 42. The Commission have 
accepted this proposal and following this, a report will now be going to GAC on 30 November 
2017 proposing changes to the ward boundaries that will ensure electoral equality; will reflect 
the interests and identities of local communities; and will provide for effective and convenient 
local government. Once agreed, these changes will then be submitted to the Commission who 
will consider them alongside any other submissions that may have been made, and who will 
then put forward their recommendations for consultation. Changes to the ward boundaries will 
come into effect from the May 2019 Elections.

 



1

APPENDIX B
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q1 & Q2 2017/18

Performance Indicator Status

Alert

Warning

OK

Data Only Indicator (no target)

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Community Infrastructure Levy 
income £2,061,024 £66,196 £185,089 £251,285  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been applied to eligible development 
since April 2014. During quarter 2 of 2017/18, payments have been made by 
development at two sites. Payments can rise or fall from quarter to quarter, as CIL is 
only triggered upon commencement of consented development. 15% of the revenue 
generated from CIL liable developments in a local area, will be passed to 
town/parish councils and local neighbourhoods and a further proportion of the total 
CIL revenue will be used for administrative costs. Work is underway to identify 
potential future infrastructure projects where the Council may choose to apply CIL 
income, and initial funding proposals will be considered by the Cabinet in December 
2017.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Overall business birth rate
Latest value 
is for 2015 – 
see note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to new business registrations as business 
births. Latest available figures show that there were 735 business births in 2015 
which is up 16.66% from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the business 
birth rate in 2015 was 8,335. This is an annual indicator and the next update for 
2016 is due at the end of November. 



2

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Status

Overall business death rate
Latest value 
is for 2015 –
see note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to businesses that have ceased to trade 
(identified through de-registration of the administrative units, that is, VAT and PAYE) 
as business deaths. Latest available figures show that there were 395 business 
deaths in 2015, which is up 2.6% from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), 
the business death rate in 2015 was 5,785. This is an annual indicator and the next 
update is due at the end of November.  

District wide unemployment rate 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2%  

There were 805 unemployed people in the Borough in September 2017, which 
represents an unemployment rate of 1.2%. There were 5 fewer unemployed people 
in September than the previous month. In Kent overall (KCC area), the 
unemployment rate in September 2017 was 1.7%.

Total monthly Town Centre 
footfall 6,226,617 1,816,413 1,993,454 3,809,867  

2016/17 saw a slight downward trend in Town Centre footfall. However, the first two 
quarters of 2017/18 have seen significant increases averaging around 300,000 per 
quarter.  

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

For the second year running, there has been a consistently high delivery level of 
around 1,000 homes, following the previous 9 year period which averaged 477 new 
homes per annum. Following the slow delivery in the recession and post-recession 
years, these higher levels of delivery are putting the Council back on track to 
achieve the Core Strategy targets.

The highest number of homes were delivered at the Northern Gateway (272 homes), 
and at The Bridge (243 homes), as well as St Clements Lakes (176 homes).

There were 214 homes delivered in the EDC area of Dartford, on the Eastern Quarry 
and Ebbsfleet Green sites, comprising 18% of delivery in Dartford as a whole. 
Delivery levels in the EDC area are expected to increase as construction activity on 
these two large sites gets into full swing.

The outlook for next year’s delivery looks positive, with the large sites continuing to 
deliver, a very healthy pipeline of sites with planning consent and an expected uplift 
of delivery in the EDC area.   High delivery levels are likely to be sustained into the 
future, barring major and unexpected economic circumstances, with build on some 
very large sites set to continue for a number of years into the future.

This is an annual indicator. 2017/18 data is due April/May.



3

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Total Fairfield Centre Visits 459,270 133,341 130,179 263,520  

At Fairfield usage and membership growth has started to slow. We have seen a 
small growth in the quarter, the live membership hitting 3,317 at the end of 
September. This was after two months of growth in July and August hitting a top 
membership of 3,343.

Plans have been agreed to fund a further £500k worth of enhancement work 
including a gym extension at Fairfield Leisure Centre in Dartford due to its growing 
success and rising demand. This is split into Gym works paid by PFP leisure £250K 
and the car park/cubicle works paid by the Council at £250K.

In partnership with Dartford Borough Council, Fairfield will benefit from an extension 
of the current fitness suite, with an additional 25 new fitness stations and a larger 
free weights area. With the proposed enhancements to the fitness suite and the 
additional space for customers to exercise.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Park Run 
Users

146 157 161 159  The Park Run continues to maintain an average 159 runners per week for this free 
event managed by a dedicated team of volunteers.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Junior Park 
Run Users

37 35 36 36  The Park Run continues to maintain an average 36 runners per week for this free 
event managed by a dedicated team of volunteers.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Princes Park Mini Pitch Users 179 45 37 82  This quarter covers the summer months which is off season for football teams and 

therefore a reduction in bookings.

Percentage attendance at the 
Orchard Theatre (% of total seats 
available which are used)

61.33% 49% 54.67% 51.83%  
This quarter includes the traditional dark period for Theatres to carry out 
maintenance and improvement works, although attendance was down 6,000 from 
the previous quarter, smaller audience shows were staged that were full to capacity.

Number of local groups 
supported through Community 
Grant and other grant schemes

34 4 5 9  
In quarters 1 and 2 there were 4 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth scheme. 
Another 5 organisations were successful under the DBC Community Fund. The 
Community Grant for 2017-18 will be launched in October.



4

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Life expectancy gap for men
Latest value 
is for 2013-
15 – see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2013-15 show that the life expectancy gap is 9.4 years 
lower for men in the most deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 
areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 7.7 years lower for men. This is 
an annual indicator and the next update is due July 2018.

Life expectancy gap for women
Latest value 
is for 2013-
15 – see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2013-15 show that the life expectancy gap is 4.5 years 
lower for women in the most deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 
areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 4.4 years lower for women. This 
is an annual indicator and the next update is due July 2018.

Percentage of obese children in 
Year 6

Latest value 
is for 2015-
16 – see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

N/A  

Latest available figures for 2015-16 show that 21.1% of children in Year 6 (10-11 
year olds) were classified as obese in the Borough. This is higher than the previous 
year where 19.6% of children in Year 6 were classified as obese. In Kent overall 
(KCC area) for 2015-16, the figure is 18.7%. This is an annual indicator and the next 
update is due in 2018.

Percentage of adults achieving at 
least 150 minutes of physical 
exercise per week

Latest value 
is for 2015-
16  - see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

N/A  

Latest available figures for 2015-16 show that 63.1% of adults were physically active 
in the Borough. This indicator is defined as the percentage of adults (aged 19+) that 
meet Chief Medical Officer recommendations for physical activity (150+ moderate 
intensity equivalent minutes per week). This indicator is a replacement for the 
previous indicator reporting the number of adults (aged 16+) achieving at least 150 
minutes of  physical activity per week. A new indicator was required as the source 
data for the superseded indicator has been discontinued (the Sport England Active 
People Survey has been replaced by the Active Lives Survey). Due to the change in 
methodology and the age range, this indicator cannot be compared to the previous 
indicator.

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Total number of arrests instigated 
by CCTV this month 72 16 19 35  Performance has remained consistent taking into account a smaller staffing 

commitment to the function and reduced Police demand. 

Total number of arrests 59 9 15 24  Performance has remained consistent taking into account a smaller staffing 
commitment to the function and reduced Police demand. 



5

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Status
supported by CCTV this month
Number of businesses supporting 
Dartford Town Against Crime 
(DTAC)

209 97 108 205  This is showing an upward trend. DTAC remains one of the most successful 
Business Crime Partnerships in the South East region.

Number of Dartford Town Against 
Crime (DTAC) interventions 
against persistent offenders

22 2 4 6  This remains consistent and exclusions will now be aligned to enforcement actions 
under the auspices of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

Number of Community Protection 
Warnings issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

104 84 188  Performance is now consistent across several services.

Number of Community Protection 
Notices issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

26 10 36  Performance is now consistent across several services.

Number of Public Space 
Protection Order Enforcement 
Notices issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A N/A N/A  The PSPO will come into effect in November 2017 with enforcement activity taking 
place from December 2017.

Number of Acceptable Behaviour 
Agreements issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

4 10 14  This is the responsibility of the Police and performance has remained consistent 
over the last 2 years.

Percentage of High risk 
(categories A & B) food hygiene 
inspections due and completed 
(cumulative)

100% 63.64% 81.82% 81.82% 100% The team are carrying a significant vacancy which we cannot fill. All high risk food 
hygiene inspections are completed within 6 weeks of their due date.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of reported anti-social 
behaviour incidents in the 
Borough by the Police

2,982 666 575 1,241  

Home crime counting rules for crime have radically changed making comparative 
analysis impossible. We are awaiting national guidance as to how we are able to say 
what crime trends look like going forward. However, instances of reported ASB have 
remained consistent for the last 2 years.

Total number of crimes reported 10,098 2,923 2,980 5,903  Home crime counting rules for crime have radically changed making comparative 
analysis impossible. We are awaiting national guidance as to how we are able to say 



6

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Status
in the Borough what crime trends look like going forward.

Number of criminal damage 
offences reported in the Borough 1,652 399 345 744  

Home crime counting rules for crime have radically changed making comparative 
analysis impossible. We are awaiting national guidance as to how we are able to say 
what crime trends look like going forward. However, criminal damage offences have 
remained constant for the last 2 years.

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status     Target 

Note

The average results of Nitrogen 
Dioxide levels from all automatic 
air quality monitoring stations in 
the Borough (micrograms per m2)

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

38.6 37.5 38.1  
Average measured Nitrogen Dioxide level (unratified) is above the national objective 
level of 40ug/m3. The three Air Quality Stations are located in areas of known poor 
air quality near to pollution sources (traffic).    

Number of households taking 
part in energy efficiency 
initiatives in the Borough

571 39 31 70  We are likely to exceed 2016/17 performance.

Number of households taking 
part in green bin service 6,141 5,640 5,804 5,722 6,000 The number of customers is slightly down but should increase over time.

Number of flytipping incidents 159 591 745 1,336 60 Flytipping of domestic items has greatly increased.

Number of graffiti incidents 59 17 9 26 60 Graffiti remains at a very low level across the Borough.

Percentage of household waste 
going to landfill 1.7% 1.4% 1.1% 1.1%  The amount of waste sent to landfill remains at a very low level. 



7

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

No of households on the housing 
register 1,064 1,094 1,110 1,110  The number of households on the housing register is staying relatively consistent.

No of households living in 
temporary accommodation 107 90 97 97  

The number of households in temporary accommodation has held between 90 and 
100 since April and continues to put pressure on GF Expenditure. Moving forward 
the team is continually looking to mitigate impact but there appears to be no 
immediate respite or resolution in sight. 

Number of households where 
homelessness has been 
prevented

50 21 19 40  Two first quarters are relatively similar but projecting an increased number of 
homeless cases being prevented for 2017/18.

Number of service requests 
completed for Private Sector 
Housing

429 64 55 119 125 We are on target to beat the performance for 2016/17.

Percentage of repairs completed 
in time 90.92% 85.16% 85.56% 85.37% 98.00%

The new management regime is now in place but poor performance in the early part 
of 2017/18 has meant that despite the improvement in October it has not affected 
the quarterly performance figure presented as yet which remains below target for the 
5000+ repairs completed. Additional resources have been provided by the contractor 
and further investigation details that the majority of the late jobs relate to non-urgent 
works with emergency and urgent jobs being dealt with as a priority. Intensive 
management action is ongoing to improve the situation.

Average time taken to re-let local 
authority housing (in calendar 
days) (EXCL major works).

20.41 21.56 24.04 22.5 20
Performance dipped in the summer due to a high number of supported housing 
voids that were difficult to let and properties that required extensive works. 
Performance has recovered in September and it is anticipated that the target will be 
achieved by the end of the financial year.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of affordable homes 
delivered (gross) 239 44 31 75 70 We are on target and likely to beat performance in 2016/17.



8

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Status

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
 Refer to page 2 and ‘Number of new homes built’ indicator for commentary.

Number of service requests 
raised for Private Sector Housing

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 62 63 125  Performance in this indicator is as expected.

No of private sector vacant 
dwellings that are returned into 
occupation or demolished

101 16 47 63 50 We are on target and likely to exceed 2016/17 performance.

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Percentage of in-year Business 
Rates collected

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 31.2% 56.2% 56.2% 56.7%
In-year collection rate to date has been detrimentally affected by late payments from 
Darent Valley Hospital (monthly payment is £136,000). They are now under a 
payment arrangement up to the end of March 2018 so the collection rate is expected 
to improve as the year progresses.

Number of phone calls received 
by the Council 577,329 129,551 131,994 261,545  

There has been a fall in telephone contact of just over 8%, from 143,504 to 131,994, 
compared to the same quarter of 2016/17.This is likely to be due, in part, to the 
increase in issues that can be resolved through the DBC website.

Percentage of in-year Council Tax 
collected

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 29.4% 56.7% 56.7% 57.2%

Value of Council Tax collected is nearly £2m more compared to the end of quarter 2 
in 2016/17. The in-year collection rate is being affected by the continuing rise in the 
Tax Base and the resulting increase in collectable debit once new properties have 
been billed. Despite the collection rate being below target the value of money 
collected continues to increase.

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to short term (<4 
weeks) illness per employee

4.39 0.58 0.71 1.29 2.24 Overall projection for 2017-18 remains below target.

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to long term (>4 
weeks) illness per employee

2.38 0.44 0.9 1.34 1.5 Overall projection for 2017-18 remains below target.



9

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Status
Percentage of supplier payments 
made within 30 days of receipt of 
invoice

99.02% 98.07% 99.43% 98.78% 99% The performance in this quarter returned to strong levels.

Average time taken to process a 
new claim for Housing Benefit 
(cumulative)

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 20 21 21 23 Performance is currently ahead of target. Further improvement is expected as the 
year progresses. 

Rent Collection and Arrears 
Recovery - rents collected as a 
proportion of rents owed.

97.67% 92.41% 95.86% 95.86% 95% This indicator shows a cumulative total heading towards an annual target. Prediction 
is that the end of 2017/18 position will exceed target and last year’s performance.

Number of visits to DBC website 821,974 214,590 210,431 425,021  Although there are monthly variations, most notably around the Festival, usage of 
the site is broadly level year on year. 

 





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN

1. Summary

1.1 This report sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Work Plan be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The proposed Work Plan for the Policy Overview Committee is 
attached at Appendix A.

3.2. It had been hoped that Andrew Scott-Clarke, Director for Public Health, 
would be available to attend this meeting to provide Members with a 
further update on ongoing and planned public health initiatives and 
links with district councils and other partners, but unfortunately he is no 
longer able to attend. Members are therefore asked to consider an 
alternative date for his visit.

3.3. The annual update on the preventative health work being carried out by 
the Council’s Healthy Living Co-ordinator, and progress being made to 
address health inequality, has been included as part of this agenda.

3.4. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 13 December 2016 a 
further report on the status of the continuing implementation of welfare 
reform has been included on this meeting’s agenda.

3.5. Following approval of the Corporate Plan 2017 – 2020 at the General 
Assembly of the Council meeting held on 17 July 2017 the first version 
of the associated ‘Corporate Plan – Performance Indicator’ report, 
which includes revised indicators and targets, has been included as 
part of this meeting’s agenda.

3.6. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 19 September 2017, a 
further visit from representatives of those who provide Pharmaceutical 
Services to the Borough has been scheduled for June 2018.

3.7. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 19 September 2017, a 
further update on air quality in the Borough has been scheduled for 
June 2018.

3.8. At the Committee’s meeting on the 19 September 2017 Members 
reviewed the additional areas that had been proposed for consideration 
and decided to consider planning related parking standards at the 
March 2018 meeting, and fly-tipping and bulk waste collection at the 
June 2018 meeting. The work plan has been updated accordingly.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

3.9. Consideration of the following additional areas, which were put forward 
at the Committee meeting held on 13 June 2017, have yet to be 
scheduled:

 Channel shift policy
 Communication and engagement strategy
 Business Advice website

3.10. Members are invited to suggest additional items for inclusion in the 
Work Plan.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The existence of sound policies, which enable quality services to be delivered 
to the residents of Dartford, is a corporate value of the Council.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Policy Overview Committee Work Plan

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A

POLICY OVERVIEW WORK PLAN

December 2017 March 2018 June 2018 September 2018

Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects - Annual Report 
2016/17

Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust Pharmacy Services Performance Monitoring

Welfare Reform Update
Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Fly-Tipping and Bulk Waste 
Collection Review

Performance Monitoring Planning Related Parking 
Standards Air Quality Review Update

Performance Monitoring Policy Overview Annual 
Report 2017 - 2018

Performance Monitoring




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 19 September 2017
	6 Regulation 9 Notice
	7 Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee Meeting held on 19 September 2017
	Action Points APPENDIX A
	Action Points APPENDIX B
	Action Points APPENDIX C

	8 Update on the Benefit Cap, Universal Credit and Welfare Reforms affecting Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction
	9 Dartford Preventative Health Projects - Annual Report 2016/17
	Health Initiatives Annual Report APPENDIX A FINAL

	10 Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators Monitoring Report
	Performance Indicators APPENDIX A
	Performance Indicators APPENDIX B

	11 Policy Overview Committee Work Plan
	Work Plan APPENDIX A




